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6. Function or Use

Historic Functions Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions) (Enter categories from instructions)
DOMESTIC/single dwelling DOMESTIC/single dwelling

DOMESTIC/multiple dwelling

7. Description

Architectural Classification
(Enter categories from instructions.)

LATE 19" AND EARLY 20™ CENTURY MOVEMENTS: Bungalow/Craftsman

Materials: (enter categories from instructions.)
Principal exterior materials of the property: BRICK; WOOD:; CONCRETE; ASPHALT; GLASS

Narrative Description

The Wilson-Crouch House is located just south of downtown Tullahoma (2014 pop. 18,899), Coffee County,
Tennessee, along a major north-south corridor (U.S. Route 41A), two blocks southwest of the railroad tracks.
Constructed in 1917 by John V. and Nelle Wood Wilson, the historic building is a highly-intact example of a
Craftsman Bungalow-style residence and sits at the edge of the locally-designated Public Square Historic
District (see figure 5). The nominated property includes the main house, a detached garage (contributing
building), a small pre-fabricated shed (non-contributing building), and chain link and wrought iron fencing.
The house retains its original form and stylistic details, including battered front porch columns, triangular
knee braces, and multi-light windows; the interior retains Craftsman-style woodwork, including tapered half-
columns, wall paneling, coffered ceilings, original built-ins, and dark wood moldings.

Setting
The Wilson-Crouch House functions as a neighborhood anchor, located on a flat corner parcel at the edge of

a small residential district comprised of mostly early- to mid-20"-century houses, located about two blocks
south of the historic downtown commercial area of Tullahoma. The house faces northeast onto South
Jackson Street; a modern commercial building is located on the adjacent property to the north, followed by a
brick, utilitarian, c. 1965 U.S. post office; across South Jackson to the northeast, the block facing the Wilson-
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Crouch house contains several small, one-story buildings dating from the 1970s-1990s. On the block directly
south of the residence are several historic dwellings, including the two-story, c. 1871 Freeman T. Burrows
House (300 S. Jackson St., Classical Revival), the ¢. 1910 John Clayton House (304 S. Jackson St., eclectic
bungalow), and c. 1928 Hale House (308 S. Jackson St., Tudor Revival cottage). This block also contains a
c. 1918 bungalow with Craftsman influences similar to, but not as pronounced as, the Wilson-Crouch House.
The block southwest of the Wilson-Crouch House (along West Warren Street) contains primarily 1940s
ranch or Minimal Traditional houses that have been altered with non-historic siding or additions. The lot
directly behind the Wilson-Crouch residence (located just north of Chestnut Alley), which at one time
contained another house from the early-20™ century, is now vacant with only a portion of sidewalk
remaining.

Sidewalks line the north and east edges of the property. An iron fence encloses part of the property,
beginning along the west elevation, wrapping around the front yard and Warren Street side yard, ending
along the sidewalk near the south end of the east elevation. The iron fence contains five sections (c. 1880s)
from Franklin, Tennessee, that were acquired by current owner Donna Rinehart Dailey in 1990; the
remaining fence and front gate were replicated and installed by Southern Iron Works (Mulberry, TN) in
2006. A chain-link metal fence encloses the rear yard, beginning along the east elevation, continuing back to
and across the rear property line, and terminating at the southwest corner of the house near the garage. The
fence contains three gates (one of which is iron), and adjoins the iron fencing near the east elevation of the
house.

Wilson-Crouch House (1917), Contributing Building
Exterior

The 1917 Wilson-Crouch House is a one-and-one-half-story, Craftsman-style bungalow constructed of wood
frame with brick veneer (dark mortar throughout) and a stuccoed continuous brick foundation. The exterior
wall cladding of the half-story features asphalt tab shingles, which are also found on the dormer. A side-
gable asphalt shingle roof with wide overhangs, triangular knee braces, flared eaves and a front-gable dormer
covers the dwelling; modern metal gutters and downspouts exist on the fagade (north) and rear (south)
elevations. Fenestration primarily consists of original wood doors and multi-light windows with leaded glass
and original wood trim surrounds, with the exception of a pair of wood-and-glass back doors that have nine
lights and raised panels, added when the rear porch was enclosed (c. 1976). Windows at the first floor level
have stucco surrounds and stucco headers and sills that extend slightly wider than the openings; second floor
windows have wood trim surrounds throughout. All windows have custom storm inserts, and many are
operable from the inside. The house has few other alterations from its historic form and materials.

The facade (north elevation) contains a one-story, full-width covered front porch with battered brick piers
and a low, solid brick railing topped with a continuous stucco cap (see photos 1 and 2). Eight wide, concrete
steps lead down from the porch to the sidewalk, flanked by low, solid, stucco-coated walls that terminate in
two low, square pedestals at the base of the steps. The basement level is covered in light-colored stucco and
is inset slightly from the edge of the porch flooring; the porch piers are also stuccoed and the outline of their
tapered bases is visible. A small, half-round brick arch is located in the center of the base of the solid railing
on each side of the steps. The porch floor consists of square red bricks (set into concrete slab) that resemble
ceramic tile. The porch ceiling consists of narrow, horizontally-oriented, white-painted beadboard; a simple
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wood crown molding is present along the entire ceiling/wall junction, except along the facade. Two
rectangular brick piers attach the porch to the north elevation. The two battered brick columns are capped by
rectangular stucco blocks. All three porch openings arc slightly at the junction of the lintel and the columns,
and the undersides of the openings are covered with narrow wood beadboard; asphalt tab shingles cover the
walls on both the interior and exterior of these walls, from just above the column caps up to the cornice.
Centered on this elevation is a single, original, wood-and-glass paneled door with fifteen lights above the
cross rail. A fifteen-light, rectangular transom is located over the door, and ten-light wood sidelights flank
this entrance. Centered on the facade to either side of the door are two, single, twenty-one-over-one wood
windows with wood trim surrounds and six-over-one wood sidelights. A front-gable dormer, covered with
asphalt tab shingles, is centered in the half-story on this elevation. The dormer has flared eaves and wide
overhangs, with triangular knee braces and wood trim at the corners and exposed wood rafters. A grouping
of three pairs of six-light wood casement windows with six-light transoms is centered on the north wall of
the dormer. A louvered vent and triangular knee brace are centered under the gable peak. A slender brick
chimney, located near the northeast corner, has a graduated brick cap and metal flashing. Due to the wide
overhangs, it appears to be an interior chimney from this view, but the flue is actually located outside the
exterior wall (east elevation).

The west elevation faces onto the driveway (see photo 3). The foundation is covered with stucco and the first
story has brick veneer wall covering, while the half-story is covered with asphalt tab shingles. A narrow
wood beltcourse divides the first and second floors. The side of the front porch is visible, with a solid, brick
railing and semi-round opening; a rectangular brick pier attaches the porch to the facade, and asphalt tab
shingles cover the wall above the piers. The northwest corner of this elevation contains fixed, paired, wood,
twelve-light windows. To the south is a single, twelve-light wood-and-glass entry door with a twelve-light
rectangular transom; a flared, shed-roof awning with triangular knee braces and exposed rafters covers this
entrance. A small concrete pad is located just below the door in the side yard, accessible through the fence
gate in this location. South of the door is a single, twelve-light wood casement window, followed by a
grouping of three, double-hung wood windows (six-over-one, twenty-one-over-one, six-over-one). Further
south are paired, wood nine-light casement windows. Near the southernmost corner of this elevation is a full-
height, wood, double-hung, twelve-over-one window. At the north end of the half-story are half-height,
paired, wood nine-light casement windows. Centered on the second floor of this elevation is a grouping of
three, wood, double-hung, twelve-over-one-light windows. To the south is a pair of nine-light wood
casement windows. While these three openings are evenly-spaced, they are all placed at slightly different
heights. The eaves on this elevation have wide overhangs and triangular knee braces. Louvered vents are
situated below the gable peak on either side of the center knee brace.

Facing towards the back yard, the south elevation contains asymmetrical fenestration, including the rear
entry (see photo 5). Near the west corner is a single twelve-over-one-light, double-hung wood window;
utility boxes and conduit are located in the wall space directly east. Centered on the first floor of this
elevation is a nine-light, wood-and-glass paneled door with nine-light sidelights and a twelve-light transom;
this entry is accessed by a rear sidewalk and single concrete step. Situated at the easternmost corner of this
elevation is a single, wood, double-hung twelve-over-one window. Metal gutters and downspouts are present
on this elevation. Flared eaves with exposed rafters provide wide overhangs on both stories of this elevation.
The half-story is centered above the entry on this elevation and contains a front-gable, rectangular dormer
with flared eaves and asphalt tab shingle wall covering. A grouping of three, wood, six-light casement
windows is centered under the gable, with six-light transoms, storm windows and wood trim surrounds. Two
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triangular knee braces are located at the corners to either side of the windows, with a third brace under the
gable peak. The west and east walls of the dormer each contain paired, nine-light wood casement windows.
The header of each of these side windows abuts the cornice line.

The east elevation, which faces onto West Warren Street, contains asymmetrical fenestration, with brick
veneer wall covering at the first floor level and asphalt tab shingles at the second level (see photo 7). A
narrow, wood beltcourse divides the first and second floors on this elevation. The stucco foundation is
visible on this elevation. Near the south corner is one pair of half-height, nine-light, wood casement
windows; a small vent is located just beneath. Continuing north is a single, double-hung, wood, twelve-over-
one window, followed by a wider, wood, double-hung, twenty-one-over-one window. A squared, vertical
wood trim piece, which covers 2" floor HVAC wiring, divides the north and south halves of the first floor,
terminating just above the wood beltcourse, immediately followed by a bay window. The bay contains three,
wood, double-hung windows (twelve-over-one, twenty-one-over-one, and twelve-over-one, respectively).
The bay has a flared eave shed roof with exposed rafters and triangular knee braces to either side of the bay;
the bay walls have open, interlocking joints. Continuing north is a wood, double-hung, nine-over-one
window, located just south of the chimney. The exterior brick chimney has a wide base which is stepped and
concrete-capped near the top of the first floor, tapering into a narrow flue with corbelling at the crown (see
photo 6). The northernmost corner contains a single, wood, double-hung nine-over-one window. This wall of
the covered front porch mirrors that found on the west elevation. Asphalt tab shingles cover the wall of the
half-story, with louvered vents under the gable peak. Triangular knee braces are visible along this elevation.
Fenestration at the half-story is asymmetrical like that on the west elevation. The southernmost opening has
paired, nine-light, wood casement windows. A grouping of three, wood, double-hung, twelve-over-one
windows is centered under the gable. Continuing north, just before the chimney, is a single, wood, twelve-
light casement window. A small, narrow, nine-light wood casement window is situated at the northernmost
corner; its wood trim surround abuts the chimney flue.

Interior

The interior of the house retains a high degree of architectural integrity, with such details as wide wood
baseboards, wood coffered ceilings, wood wall paneling, and original doors with eight-point, fluted glass
knobs; all door and wall panels are recessed, and the woodwork is walnut. Up to eight layers of wallpaper
over flush wood boards cover the walls and ceilings, many with additional layers of paint. Flat, wood trim
accents the doorways and wall openings, much of it has the original dark finish; doorways and windows are
capped with a ledge-style trim piece. The first floor retains several original wood built-ins with tapered,
wood, half-height supports. Original narrow, oak plank and tile floors exist throughout, along with many
original light fixtures. Several of the original radiators are present, though no longer in use, as heat is now
provided by a gas-fired system in the basement. The house also has a central vacuum system with outlets in
many rooms and a collection canister in the basement, though the system is also no longer in use.

First Floor

The front door opens directly into a small den space that has dark wood wall paneling and coffered ceilings
(see photo 9). Immediately west of the door is a radiator with white-painted, wood cover cabinet. The
northwest corner of the room contains an L-shaped wood staircase, accessed by a single wood step and
rectangular landing, with a square newel post and squared spindles. A paired casement window intersects
about halfway up the first flight of steps; the ceiling is open in this area, except for a small, coffered portion
located immediately above the lowest landing. A door under the staircase leads to a storage space, walls of
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which are flush boards, and an exterior entry door. Dividing the den space and the living room to the east is a
pair of half-height, tapered wood supports; recessed panel, twelve-light, built-in cabinets with glass knobs
are located directly below (see photo 10). A pair of similar supports divides the den from the main floor
hallway and is nearly identical, except for a lack of built-in cabinetry; this pair is solid with recessed panels
on the lower half.

The living room contains the only fireplace in the house; this feature has a floor-to-ceiling, white-painted,
brick surround with a thick, dark wood mantel with three corbeled brick supports, a rectangular raised hearth
of square bricks, and a pair of folding brass-and-glass doors. Two flush, diamond-shaped accent blocks are
located on either side of the firebox opening, and the filler panel contains a row of slightly-angled soldier
course bricks. Four rows of corbeled brick top the brick surround and intersect the dark wood coffered
ceilings; two additional diamond-shaped accent blocks are located to either side just below the corbeling.
Dark wood baseboards and wallpaper continue throughout this room (see photo 11).

To the south of the living room is the dining room, which also has dark wood baseboards, door trim and
coffered ceilings (see photo 12). This room has custom scenic landscape wallpaper. A crystal chandelier is
centered in the room. Two dark wood, recessed panel doors with glass knobs are located along the west wall
and provide access to the main floor hallway. A bay window is located on the center of the east wall, and a
single wood, recessed panel swinging door on the south wall provides access to the butler’s pantry.

Immediately south of the dining room is a small butler’s pantry that functions as a pass-through to the
kitchen (see photo 13). This space has wood baseboards and door trim, all is painted white. Along the west
wall is a full-width built-in with cabinetry and a solid-surface countertop on the lower half and tall, glass-
front cabinets above. Original hardware on the cabinets includes shell cup drawer pulls, metal latches, and
decorative three-lobed metal hinges; all cabinets and hardware are painted white. The room is wallpapered,
and the ceiling slopes in the southwest corner where the back stairway crosses above the space.

The butler’s pantry leads into the kitchen, located at the southeast corner of the house (see photo 14). This
room contains several built-in wood cabinets along the east, south and west walls, and has wallpaper
throughout. White-painted wood baseboards, door and window trim, and crown moldings are present; the
ceiling has flat, wood trim and an original brass, five-arm lighting fixture with frosted globes. The north wall
contains white subway tile, located below a wood chair rail which extends throughout the room. The east
wall has lower cabinets with shell-cup metal pulls and a solid surface countertop with porcelain sink near the
southeast corner. Upper wood cabinets surround the windows and have recessed panels with simple round
wood pulls. Several additional various-sized storage cabinets are set into the south wall; these are recessed
panel wood with round, wood pulls for the lower cabinets and original metal latches for the top three
cabinets. One of the old radiators is located under these cabinets, directly beside a single-light, wood-and-
glass, recessed panel door leading into the mud room; directly above the door is an operational, top-hinged
transom window with original metal transom operator. A large, recessed panel, wood cabinet covers the west
wall; this built-in is approximately the same height as the doors and has simple, round, wood pulls. Just north
of this cabinet is a walnut, recessed panel door with glass knob and operational transom; this door leads into
the main floor hallway. Beside this door, at the west corner of the north wall, is a recessed panel door that
has been painted white, with round iron knob; this door provides access to stairs leading to the basement.
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West of the kitchen is a small mud room, created when a back porch area was enclosed in 1976 (see photo
15). The floor in this room is covered with square vinyl tiles. Flush wood board siding, originally on the
exterior of the house, is present on the walls. An original, hammered copper, square pendant light fixture is
centered on the ceiling and matches others throughout the house. A single, wood-and-glass door with glass
knob and single-light transom is located on the north wall and provides access to the main hallway.

Immediately north of the mud room is a short hallway that leads to the two bedrooms on this level. A small
closet is located closest to the mud room on the south wall of the hallway; it has a single, recessed panel
wood door with glass knob. Door trim and baseboards continue into this space and a small, original, brass
lantern-style fixture hangs above. Just west of the closet is the back bedroom, accessed through a recessed
panel door with glass knob and single-light operational transom (see photo 17). The bedroom retains wood
floors and original trim throughout, and all walls are wallpapered. A small closet, access through a recessed
panel wood door with glass knob, is located in the northeast corner of the room on the east wall. The original
ceiling light in this room is a brass fixture with a turned rod, finial base, and three curved arms with floral-
patterned, frosted glass, hexagonal, flared-bell globes.

Directly across the hallway is a second bedroom, with an identical door, finishes and materials as the first
(see photo 20). A small dressing room, with original door and built-in cabinetry, is located on the north wall
near the northwest corner. The south wall contains a door that provides access to the only bathroom on this
level; the door has original finish on the bedroom side, but is painted white on the bathroom side. The full
bathroom has pinwheel-pattern, black-and-white porcelain tile floors, white-painted wood baseboards, and a
chair rail with beadboard wainscoting (see photo 18). A porcelain tub is centered below the window on the
west wall and is flanked by built-in solid wood cabinets with modern metal pulls. A porcelain pedestal sink
is located on the south wall, with one of the original radiators and a small water closet just east of it.

The main hallway is a narrow corridor with dark, wood baseboards and door trim that provides a stark
contrast to the light-colored walls, which have paint over wallpaper (see photo 16). Doorways on either side
provide access to the front bedroom, dining room, and back staircase. Near the corner of the west wall is a
small closet with original door; directly across from this is a door that leads into the back staircase, with
original, dark-stained, wood steps and white-painted flush board walls (see photo 19). Just north of the
staircase is a door that leads into the dining room; directly across from this is a door that provides access to
the front bedroom. A modern ceiling fan with globe lights hangs above this space. The north end of the
hallway contains two wood-and-glass doors with twelve-light transom and glass knobs. An additional door to
the dining room is just north of this opening on the east hallway wall. The hallway terminates at the den,
where there is a small hall closet, an additional door to the front bedroom, and another of the original square
pendant lights (see photo 21).

Second Floor

The main staircase accesses the second floor near the northwest corner of the house, where a small, wood
landing and single, fifteen-light, wood-and-glass door lead to the hallway (see photo 22). A band of heavy,
dark, wood trim wraps around the stairwell, a detail formed from the convergence of the downstairs ceiling
trim and the upstairs baseboards. Wallpaper lines the walls of the stairwell. Above the landing is a
Neoclassical, white, acorn-style flush-mount light.
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Immediately north of the landing is the front bedroom, accessed by a pair of fifteen-light, wood-and-glass
doors with glass knobs. Wood floors flow into this bedroom from the hallway, and original baseboards, door
and window trim are present (see photo 23). A small storage closet is located on the west wall, and this room
is wallpapered. A white-painted, recessed panel door with glass knob on the east wall leads into a bathroom
(see photo 24).

A full bathroom in this space has black-and-white, hexagon-and-diamond ceramic tile floors, white-painted
wood baseboards and a sloped ceiling. Two recessed panel, white-painted wood doors are located on the
north wall, providing access to storage and utility spaces. The ceiling contains a single, modern, flush-mount
globe light. A pedestal sink, toilet, and ceramic tile-lined bathtub complete the room. A fourth door, located
on the south wall, opens into a small kitchen space.

The pass-through kitchen has tile floors that match the bathroom, white-painted wood baseboards and a flat,
wood chair rail. Wood cabinets with latching locks line the north wall; a small, original, metal cabinet with
rounded edges, “American Kitchens” emblem, and porcelain sink is just below. A metal breaker box is
located on the south wall, and just east of it is a recessed panel wood door that leads into a bedroom (see
photo 25).

The east bedroom on the second floor is wallpapered, with hardwood floors; white-painted wood baseboards,
door and window trim are present (see photo 26). An original, hammered copper, square pendant light fixture
with four shades and trefoil detail is centered on the ceiling and simple crown molding lines the room. Two
paired, ten-light, wood-and-glass folding doors are located on the west wall and lead into the hallway.

Wood floors and white-painted wood baseboards and trim are located throughout the hallway (see photo 27).
The space is wallpapered throughout, and an original brass pendant light is centered about halfway back; the
decorative light has an acorn-shaped, glass globe with a band of cut-outs and four chains connecting the
fixture to the ceiling.

The west bedroom is accessed from the hallway via two paired, ten-light, wood-and-glass folding doors
identical to those in the east bedroom. Walls are painted, original hardwood floors are located throughout,
and all door and window trim, baseboard and crown molding is wood and painted white (see photo 28). An
original pendant light fixture, identical to that found in the east bedroom, is centered in the ceiling. Centered
on the south wall is a single, wood, recessed panel door with glass knob that leads into a full bathroom.

This secondary bathroom has wood floors, white-painted wood baseboards and trim, and a white-painted
wood chair rail with square, white ceramic tile below and wallpaper above (see photo 29). The ceiling slopes
down slightly near the south wall and has wallpaper over visible narrow wood boards; a modern fixed metal-
and-frosted-glass ceiling light is centered above. A ceramic pedestal sink is located along the south wall near
a freestanding ceramic tub; two brass wall sconces with frosted glass globes are located above the sink. The
south wall contains a single, wood, recessed panel door with glass knob that leads into a storage closet. A
small, recessed, white-painted wood, built-in medicine cabinet with single-light, hinged door is set into the
north wall near the west corner of the room. The east wall contains a single, recessed panel, wood door with
solid brass knob, which leads into a small water closet that has the same finishes as the rest of the bathroom;
the south wall of the water closet has an identical door providing access to the main hallway. Just south of



United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form

NPS Form 10-900 OMB No. 1024-0018
Wilson-Crouch House Coffee County, TN
Name of Property County and State

the water closet door is one of the original radiators. Continuing south on this wall is an additional recessed
panel, single wood door that leads into the hallway.

A small room, currently used as an office space, is located at the south end of the hallway (see photo 32).
This room is accessed via two fifteen-light, wood-and-glass doors and has hardwood floors; all wood trim is
painted white, including wide baseboards. Walls and crown molding are painted in this space. A modern,
four-light wood-and-brass ceiling fan is centered in the room. A single, recessed-panel wood door with
modern metal knob is located on the east wall in the northeast corner of the room; this provides access to a
small storage closet.

Along the hallway and to the northeast of the office is a single, recessed panel wood door that provides
access to the rear stairwell (see photo 30). The landing has dark, original hardwood floors and flush wood
boards on the walls and ceiling. Wide wood baseboards, wood door and window trim are painted white. A
low, wood balustrade with square balusters has a stepped, square-edge railing and jogs back towards the
south wall about halfway into the landing. An unpainted, wall-mounted, solid wood railing is located along
the south wall and extends part-way down to the first floor.

Near the southeast corner of the stairwell, a single, recessed panel, wood door with glass knob provides
access to a half bath (see photo 31). The half bath has the same finishes as the stairwell, with a toilet near the
east end of the room, a ceramic pedestal sink at the west end, and a small, flush-board, hinged, wood access
hatch on the south wall. A wall-mounted light with pull chain is located above the access hatch.

Few changes are present in the house, but the most interesting one may be the second floor hallway doors.
These doors are believed to date from around WWII, when this area of the house was used as a dance space.
Exterior photos indicate two slight changes to the fenestration, the first of which is where the window at the
butler’s pantry was lengthened but not widened (see figure 3). The second change is where a small window
was added near the chimney, when a portion of the second floor was used as an apartment to help relieve a
WWiIl-era housing shortage in Tullahoma when soldiers were stationed at nearby Camp Forrest. The second
floor kitchen space was added in the early 1940s.

Garage (c. 1920), contributing building

Located approximately ten feet west of the house is a one-story, rectangular, two-bay garage (see photo 4).
The building is clad in weatherboard siding on the west, east, and south elevations; common bond brick
veneer and asphalt shingle tabs cover the facade (east elevation). The garage has a low-pitched, front-gable
asphalt shingle roof with a wide overhang and exposed rafters. Each of the openings contains two doors
comprised of horizontal wood battens, metal strap hinges and wood cross-bracing.

Pre-Fabricated shed (c. 1990), non-contributing building

A non-historic, rectangular, one-story storage shed is located approximately fifteen feet south of the house
(see photo 8). The single-bay shed has a low-pitched front-gable asphalt shingle roof and wood panel siding.
The facade (east elevation) contains two board-and-batten doors with metal strap hinges and cross-bracing. A
small vent is located in the gable field and a modern electric flood light hangs over the doors on this
elevation. The west and east elevation each contain one, centered, double-hung four-over-four vinyl window.
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8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria
(Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria
qualifying the property for National Register
listing.)

A

[ ]D

Criteria Considerations

Property is associated with events that have
made a significant contribution to the broad
patterns of our history.

Property is associated with the lives of
persons significant in our past.

Property embodies the distinctive
characteristics

of a type, period, or method of construction
or represents the work of a master, or
possesses high artistic values, or represents a
significant

and distinguishable entity whose
components lack individual distinction.
Property has yielded, or is likely to yield,
information important in prehistory or
history.

N/A

(Mark "x" in all the boxes that apply.)
Property is:

E

F

A Owned by a religious institution or used for

religious purposes.

removed from its original location.

a birthplace or grave.

a cemetery.

a reconstructed building, object, or structure.

a commemorative property.
less than 50 years old or achieving

G significance within the past 50 years.

11

Areas of Significance
(Enter categories from instructions.)

ARCHITECTURE

Period of Significance
1917

Significant Dates
N/A

Significant Person
(Complete only if Criterion B is marked
above.)

N/A

Cultural Affiliation

N/A

Architect/Builder
Unknown
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Statement of Significance Summary Paragraph

The Wilson-Crouch House is eligible for listing in the National Register of Historic Places under Criterion C
in the area of architecture at the local level of significance. Constructed in 1917 for John VVan Wilson and his
wife Nellie Wood Wilson, the residence is a strong and intact example of a Craftsman bungalow. The brick
and shingle building retains its original rectangular plan and features a flared, side-gable asphalt shingle roof
with a centered front-gable dormer, triangular knee braces, and a full-width front porch with battered brick
piers and a solid brick railing. Original features and materials are present throughout the interior, including
wood trim, hardwood paneling, French doors, and built-in cabinetry. Located on South Jackson Street,
approximately three blocks south of downtown Tullahoma, the house stands on a major secondary
thoroughfare at the edge of a residential area and the locally-designated Public Square Historic District. As
one of few early-20™-century residences that survived post-WWII development in Tullahoma, the house
retains a high degree of integrity in location, design, materials, feeling, workmanship and association and
reflects its significance as perhaps the best example of a Craftsman bungalow in the city. The period of
significance is defined as 1917, which aligns with the date of construction.

The Wilson-Crouch House meets the registration requirements for residential properties set forth in the
Historic and Architectural Resources of Tullahoma, Coffee County, Tennessee Multiple Property
Documentation Form.

Narrative Statement of Significance

19" and 20" Century Growth and Residential Development in Tullahoma

The city of Tullahoma, located twelve miles from the county seat of Manchester, sits midway between
Nashville and Chattanooga, Tennessee. A railroad town, Tullahoma was surveyed and established in 1851
and chartered in 1852. ' An early Tullahoma map dated 1856, drawn by Dr. Thomas Anderson shows the
boundary of the Town Company Land of the Nashville and Chattanooga Railroad. Dr. Thomas Anderson
was one of the first settlers of Tullahoma. He was a land speculator and involved with the land sale of lots to
the N&C Railroad.? Early Tullahoma was the main labor camp for the Nashville and Chattanooga Railroad,
and that industry was the largest contributor to the economic development of Tullahoma in its early years, as
the city was the only shipping point for north and south in this part of Middle Tennessee.?

Early on, the railroad influenced the development of residential neighborhoods in Tullahoma. Railroad
managers and the merchant class built residences on the east side of the tracks, concentrated along North
Atlantic and North Washington Streets. At the peak of the Louisville and Nashville Railroad operations
(1900-1920), the railroad expanded its service and increased Tullahoma's role as an operations terminal,
which had a major impact on the development of Tullahoma.® A need for working-class housing for the
influx of railroad employees resulted in the establishment of a working-class residential neighborhood in and
around the six-hundred block of North Washington Street, convenient to the railroad yards and two blocks
away from the upper-class neighborhoods of South Jackson Street. On June 30, 1916, John Van Wilson and

! The Heritage of Coffee County, Missouri: Walsworth Publishing, 2004, 137.
2 Betty Anderson Bridgewater, "Dr. Thomas Anderson," Coffee County Historical Society Quarterly 6, no 3 (1975): 27.
® The Heritage of Coffee County.
4 -
Ibid.
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his wife Nelle Wood Wilson bought the 90" x 135’ lot on South Jackson Street from John Harton; they built
the house at 216 South Jackson Street in 1917.°

Transportation once again dictated the development of residential and industrial/commercial development in
Tullahoma, when the Dixie Highway, which extended from Ontario, Canada south to Miami, Florida, was
completed in 1927; the Eastern and Western divisions passed through Tennessee.® The Western Route ran
through Tullahoma, with South Jackson Street utilized as the route through the city. This influx of travelers,
combined with the industrial economic boom, resulted in widespread replacement of previously built homes,
or the construction of bungalows and stylish modern homes on South Jackson in the 1920s and 1930s.” This
sparked the rise of a new residential neighborhood along South Jackson Street (see figures 1 and 2).
Additionally, increased traffic and tourists along South Jackson Route of the Dixie Highway led to changes
in the built environment of Tullahoma along S. Jackson Street. The demand for gas stations, hotels, and
eateries resulted in the transformation of a predominately residential area to the commercial hub of
Tullahoma. The majority of bungalows and modern houses constructed in the 1920s and 1930s were
demolished to make land available for these new commercial buildings.?

On the eve of World War Il, Tullahoma had the largest population in the county (5,000) and was the
principle location for industry. World War 1l brought Camp Forrest to Tullahoma, along with an influx of
soldiers and jobs. Camp Forrest, one of the largest U.S. Army training bases during WWII, facilitated two
battalions of Rangers, eleven infantry divisions, and medical and supply units.® At one point, seventy
thousand soldiers were stationed at Camp Forrest along with twelve thousand civilian employees. This
increase in population created a housing shortage. Many residents responded by opening their homes to
soldiers, as well as renovating and converting upper level into apartments or boarding houses, as was done at
216 S. Jackson Street. In addition, the wave of new construction to accommodate the demand for new
industry and services further transformed South Jackson Street into a commercial corridor. By 1943, Camp
Forrest saw a shift from a training facility to a POW camp for German and Italian prisoners, and the camp
was decommissioned in 1946.%° At the start of WWII, Tullahoma's population was approximately 4,500, but
by the end of the war, their population had reached 75,000. Overcrowded stores, roads and lack of housing
were just a few of the issues that had to be addressed during this era due to the large influx of soldiers in a
short span of time.

® Coffee County Archives, Deed Book 24, p. 280.
® Leslie Sharp, "The Dixie Highway Association," The Tennessee Encyclopedia of History and Culture, Knoxville: University of
TN Press, 2009, http://tennesseeencyclopedia.net/entry.php?rec=382, accessed August 30, 2017.
" Carroll Van West, Historic and Architectural Resources of Tullahoma, Tennessee National Register Multiple Property
Documentation Form, Murfreesboro, January 1993.
& The Heritage of Coffee County.
° Michael, Bradley, The Tennessee Encyclopedia of History and Culture, "Camp Forrest", (Knoxville: University of TN Press,
2009), https://tennesseeencyclopedia.net/entry.php?rec=178, accessed August 30, 2017.
19 Elizabeth Taylor, Camp Forrest, Tennessee: Arcadia Publishing, 2016, 2.
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Architecture

The Wilson-Crouch House is a good example of a Craftsman bungalow, distinguished by its full-width front
porch with tapered supports, low-pitched gable roof, and flared, wide-overhanging eaves with exposed
rafters and knee braces. Gable dormers and original, wood, multi-light windows contribute to the aesthetic
appeal that was in fashion during the early-20" century, when Craftsman styling dominated American house
designs.** The interior of the Wilson-Crouch House displays original woodwork and materials throughout,
including tapered interior supports, built-in cabinetry, and solid wood paneled doors. The house embodies
the Craftsman style and retains a high degree of design, materials, and workmanship.

In this neighborhood, where many houses were constructed in the early- to mid-20" century, the Wilson-
Crouch House stands out as a highly-intact example of the Craftsman style. While other bungalows exist,
especially within the Public Square local historic district, many of those buildings have endured significant
alterations, including window replacements, application of vinyl siding, and minor additions (as seen along
West Warren and South Jefferson Streets) and display minimal, or obscured, stylistic detail.

Located one block south of the Wilson-Crouch House are two comparable houses in style in form, yet they
do not display the high level of detail as shown on the nominated property. The house at 304 South Jackson
Street is the ¢.1910 Clayton-Hull House. The home is a one-and-one-half story, weatherboard frame house
with Eclectic Bungalow influences. The house has a full-width covered front porch with tapered supports
and shallow arches, gable dormer, and multi-light sash windows. The building appears to have an addition at
the southeast corner. Further south at the corner of West Dechard Street, 320 South Jackson Street is a c.
1918 side-gable bungalow with Craftsman influences. The house has a partial-width front porch with tapered
supports, wide overhanging eaves with exposed rafters, gable dormer and multi-light wood windows.
Exterior wall cladding is wood with stucco, and a carport is attached at the northwest corner. While both of
these houses exhibit a bungalow form and Craftsman influences, they no appear to be significant examples of
the style as compared to the Wilson-Crouch House.

Wilson-Crouch House Ownership and Family History

John V. Wilson was one of eight children of Riley Wilson and Sarah Blanton Wilson, who came to
Tullahoma in 1869 and established a general store named Wilson’s (in operation until 1956). The store was
bought from Riley Wilson by his son, William Henry, and passed down through his descendants. Brother
John Van is said to have helped in the store and had a tailor shop.*?

On February 7, 1924, John V. and Nelle Wood Wilson sold the house to Heloise Hickerson Crouch and
Hubert Adair Crouch for $11,000, along with a 100’ x 200’ lot located three doors south on S. Jackson
Street. The deed specifically stated that the conveyance included “...the hot water boiler, and the electric

1 Blythe Semmer, Earlice C. Taylor, and Carroll Van West, “Glenview Historic District,” National Register of Historic Places
nomination form, Murfreesboro, November 10, 1998.
12 Marjorie Collier, "Wilson-Crouch House," Tullahoma Time-Table April (1985): 12.
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fixtures and globes now in the house, and one vacuum cleaning outfit; one built-in cabinet in the dressing
room, north bedroom.”*?

H.A. Crouch was president and manager of the Tullahoma Ice & Coal company from its beginning in 1912.
He was described as being progressive and innovative throughout his life until his death in 1958. He was
active in civic affairs including the City School Board, Rotary Club, director of Board of Trade, member of
Knights of Pythias and active in the Methodist Church.'* When the Crouches moved to the 216 S. Jackson
house they had two sons, Hubert, Jr. (six years) and Allan (six months). Hubert Jr. may have lived there until
his marriage to Jane Smotherman in 1941, or until he left for the Army in 1942; Jane was the sister of Paul
Smotherman, owner of the Smotherman House (211 W. Blackwell St.) for many years. Hubert, Jr. entered
the Army as a private and was mustered out in 1946 as a major. He was also active in civic affairs, both at
the local and state level when he was active in managing Governor Browning’s campaign. Crouch was active
in obtaining a new National Guard Armory and a new Tullahoma-Lynchburg Highway. He was owner of
Crouch Motor Company and Crouch and Crutcher Oil Company, Inc. He was one of the organizers of
Tullahoma Trades Inc., a veteran training institution. He was a member of the Rotary Club, the Chamber of
Commerce, Elks Club, VFW, and First Methodist Church, all of this by the time he was thirty-four years old.
Allan Crouch served as a president of the Rotary Club, member Board of Directors of First National Bank
and Tennessee Oil Marketers Association, Coffee County Library Board, and owner of Crouch Oil
Company.®

Hubert Crouch, Sr., died in 1958 and his wife, Heloise, died in 1969, leaving the property to the two sons.
On July 19, 1971, Hubert, Jr. transferred his half interest in this and other properties to his brother, Allan.'®
By 1992, Allan had married Judy Matheny and put his ownership in a marital trust. Allan Crouch died June
8, 1999 and the house was inherited by his wife, Judy. She sold the property to Donna Faye Rinehart, the
present owner, on April 28, 2003. Donna is a retired business woman and past president of the Historic
Preservation Society of Tullahoma. In discussions with Judy and Donna, it is clear that the families have
realized the significance of the house to the town, both for its architecture and history, and have made great
efforts to maintain and preserve it.

13 Coffee County Archives, Deed Book 34, p.283.

4 Allan Crouch, "A Short History of the Tullahoma Ice & Coal Company,” April 1987, p. 20.

> Ewell Leighton, History of Coffee County, Tennessee (Manchester: Doak Printing Co, 1936), p. 55-56.
16 Coffee County Deed Book 112, p. 178.
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10. Geographical Data

Acreage of Property  0.28 acres USGS Quadrangle Tullahoma 86-SW

Latitude/Longitude Coordinates
Datum if other than WGS84:
(enter coordinates to 6 decimal places)

Latitude: 35.359440 Longitude: -86.209869

Verbal Boundary Description

The National Register boundary for this property aligns with the boundaries of Coffee County parcel
124N H 025.00. The boundary begins at the southwest corner of the intersection at South Jackson Street
and West Warren Street, extends 135 feet southwest along West Warren Street, 90 feet northwest along

the rear parcel boundary, 135 feet northeast (bounded by non-historic commercial development), and 90
feet southeast along South Jackson Street.

Boundary Justification

The boundaries include the property that is historically associated with the Wilson-Crouch House.
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USGS Topographical Map (Tullahoma Quadrangle, 86-SW) showing location of the
Wilson-Crouch House.
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Parcel tax map with National Register Boundary for Wilson-Crouch House.
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Aerial parcel tax map with National Register Boundary for Wilson-Crouch House.
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Photographs (refer to Tennessee Historical Commission National Register Photo Policy for
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e Additional items: (additional supporting documentation including historic photographs, historic
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maps)
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Photo Log

Name of Property: Wilson-Crouch House

City or Vicinity: Tullahoma

County:  Coffee State: TN

Photographer:  Caroline Eller, Tennessee Historical Commission

Date Photographed:  April 21, 2017

Description of Photograph(s) and number, include description of view indicating direction of camera:
10f32.  North elevation (facade). Photographer facing south.

2 of 32.  Northwest oblique. Photographer facing southeast.

30f32. West elevation. Photographer facing southeast.

4 of 32.  Garage, north elevation. Photographer facing south.

50f32.  South elevation of house and west elevation of shed. Photographer facing east.
6 of 32.  Northeast oblique. Photographer facing southwest.

7 of 32.  East elevation. Photographer facing northwest.

8 of 32.  Shed, north elevation. Photographer facing south.

90f32. View of den and staircase. Photographer facing west.

10 of 32. View of den and living room. Photographer facing east.

11 of 32. View of living room. Photographer facing east.

12 of 32.  View of dining room. Photographer facing south.

13 of 32. View of butler’s pantry. Photographer facing north.

14 of 32. View of kitchen. Photographer facing north.

15 of 32.  View of kitchen looking into mud room. Photographer facing west.

16 of 32. View of first floor hallway. Photographer facing north.
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17 of 32.  View of first floor bedroom. Photographer facing north.

18 of 32. View of first floor bathroom. Photographer facing west.

19 of 32. View of back staircase. Photographer facing southeast.

20 of 32. View of first floor bedroom. Photographer facing west.

21 of 32. View of first floor hallway. Photographer facing west.

22 of 32.  View of second floor landing. Photographer facing west.

23 of 32.  View of second floor bedroom. Photographer facing west.

24 of 32.  View of second floor bathroom. Photographer facing east.

25 of 32.  View of second floor kitchen. Photographer facing southeast.
26 of 32.  View of second floor bedroom. Photographer facing east.

27 of 32.  View of second floor hallway. Photographer facing south.

28 of 32.  View of second floor bedroom. Photographer facing southwest.
29 of 32.  View of second floor bathroom. Photographer facing southwest.
30 of 32. View of back staircase and landing. Photographer facing southeast.
31 of 32. View of second floor half bath. Photographer facing south.

32 of 32. View of second floor office. Photographer facing east.
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First Floor Plan w/Photo Key
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Second Floor Plan w/ Photo Key
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Figure 1. 1926 Sanborn Fire Insurance Map showing location of Wilson-Crouch House.
Source: http://sanborn.umi.com/, accessed May 23, 2017.
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Figure 2. 1959 Sanborn Fire Insurance Map showing location of Wilson-Crouch House.
Source: http://sanborn.umi.com/, accessed May 23, 2017.
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Figure 3. 1926 Pre-WWII image of Wilson-Crouch House.
Source: Marjorie Collier, Historic Preservation Society of Tullahoma.
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Figure 4. Artist sketch of Wilson-Crouch House, by Patricia Clemens.
Source: Tullahoma Time-Table, April 1985, p. 12.
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Figure 5. Tullahoma local historic district map showing location of Public Square HD.
Source: Tennessee Historical Commission Information Files.
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APPENDIX: Summary of Deed Records

Book Page Date Action

24 280 June 30, 1916 Tripp family sells 90’ x 200 lot to John Harton

24 296 June 30, 1916 John Harton sells 90” x 135 lot to J.V. Wilson and wife
(Wilsons build present house in 1917).

34 283, 4 Feb. 7, 1924 Wilsons sell house and lot to H.A. Crouch family
(H.A. Crouch Sr. dies in 1958 and Mrs. H.A. dies in
1969, sons Allan and Hubert. Jr. inherit house)

112 178 July 19, 1971 Hubert Jr. transfers his % interest in house to Allan

230 16 Oct. 20, 1992 Allan puts ownership in a trust, is now married to Judy
(Allan Crouch dies June 8, 1999.)

275 578 March 6, 2000 Ownership in Marital Trust

293 785 April 29, 2003 Change of Trust Company

293 994 April 28, 2003 Trust sells property to present owner,

Donna Faye Rinehart.
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Memo to File

Correspondence

The Correspondence consists of communications from (and possibly to) the nominating authority, notes
from the staff of the National Register of Historic Places, and/or other material the National Register of
Historic Places received associated with the property.

Correspondence may also include information from other sources, drafts of the nomination, letters of
support or objection, memorandums, and ephemera which document the efforts to recognize the
property.
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